### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

v. CASE NO. 67,308

RICHARD LEON LOWRY,

Respondent.

# INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SARAH B. MAYER Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner

# CORRECTED

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Okeechobee County, Florida; the Respondent was the Appellant and Defendant, respectively in those lower courts. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will be used to denote the record on appeal. The symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto. The opinion of the Fourth District shall be referred to as it appears in <u>Southern Reporter</u>. All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged by information with Count One a lewd and lascivious act and Count Two a lewd and lascivious act in the presence of a child, on September 1, 1983 (R. 193).

Respondent was tried by jury on December 7 and 8, 1983 (R. 5-155).

While the record is unclear, it appears the respondent was tried on Count One only, as the state presented only the testimony of the victim, and her mother (R. 9), and the trial court instructed the jury only as to Count One (R. 16).

On December 8, 1983, the jury found the respondent guilty of a lewd and lascivious act (R. 203, 155). On February 9, 1984, respondent was adjudicated guilty and sentenced as a mentally disordered sex offender to ten years in the department of corrections (R. 190, 207-210). This sentence constituted a departure from the guidelines and the trial court entered an order stating his reasons for deviation from the guidelines on February 15, 1984, nunc pro tunc, February 9, 1984 (R. 212-213). Respondent timely appealed.

The Fourth District reversed, <u>Lowry v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 298 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). The petitioner moved for rehearing, (A. 1-4); said motion was denied (A. 5). The state timely sought this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction (A. 6) and this appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent's jury trial began on December 7, 1983

(R. 5). Prior to the testimony of the latest the victim, defense counsel requested the court to determine the witness' competency outside the presence of the jury. Petitioner opposed this motion (R. 3). The trial court denied the respondent's motion stating that either lawyer could ask questions regarding the witness' competency in front of the jury anyway (R. 31).

the victim, testified first. She stated that her mother is and that she (the victim) is six years old (R. 35). She was examined by the court regarding whether she understood that the oath was a promise to tell the truth, whether she believed in God and whether she would be punished for lying (R. 37-39). The victim stated that she knew she could be punished for not telling the truth (R. 39). She identified the respondent and stated that she called him Rick (R. 40). She testified she was in the bedroom with the respondent, that he got on top of her on all of the beds in all of the bedrooms except (R. 41). She testified that the respondent had his clothes off, that she had her clothes off, although she could not remember who took them off; she testified that the respondent touched her between the legs, that he put his hands between her legs and rubbed it and that he put "his thing" into her, although she did not remember whether it hurt (R. 42-43). The victim then stated that it did hurt, that she cried, that she asked the respondent

to stop, that he put his clothes back on and she put her clothes back on and the respondent went to bed (R. 44). testified that her mother was at work and that the incident occurred at the home where she, her mother and Rick lived (R. 44). She testified that she didn't recall whether it was day or night, that she went to bed and to sleep afterwards, saw her mother the next morning, that she told her mother what happened but didn't remember when (R. 45). She testified that she talked with her mother about Rick did, that she talked with the police, she stated she had not seen the respondent since it had happened (R. 46). She testified that she liked the respondent before this happened, that she sometimes called him daddy, she testified that the respondent sometimes spanked her if she did something wrong (R. 46-47). She testified that she remembered telling the judge that she would tell the truth, that the incident really happened, that her mother did not tell her to lie (R. 47-48). On crossexamination she stated that she did not remember whether stayed with her that night, she testified that was watching TV along with and that was not there (R. 50). She testified that God and Jesus were in the room with her when Rick got on top of her (R. 51). testified that she recalled talking with a policeman named Ike and with a blond haired deputy named Kate (R. 52); she did not remember who showed her the doll but that it was not Kate (R. 53). She remembered Dr. Brown, who examined her at

his office, that her mother and Kate were there also, and that Kate took her there (R. 54). She did not remember how many times she talked with Ike but she stated that was not with her the first time (R. 54). She stated was there one time with Ike and Kate but she did not remember what Ike asked nor did she remember telling Ike things the respondent had done (R. 55). She testified that the respondent had gotten on top of her on all the beds in the house except s. On that night she stated they were on her bed; she did not remember her mother coming to her and asking her about the incident (R. 56). She did not remember telling her to tell Ike so that the respondent could go to jail (R. 57). She testified that both her mother and Rick put calamine lotion on her and took care of her when she had the chickenpox, but that she did not have the red dots all over her body (R. 57). She testified that she did not know whether Rick had gotten on top of her before or after her birthday in June but that it was after she had gone back to school (R. 57-59).

that she first met the respondent on Good Friday in 1982 (R. 61). She testified that she met the respondent at Good Spirits, where she worked, that she had met him before, around November of 1981, but that their first date was Good Friday (R. 61-62). She stated they began living together

in May of 1982, and that they lived together for about a month and then in June the respondent went to jail (R. 63). The respondent then moved for a mistrial. The trial court apparently offered a curative instruction which the respondent refused (R. 63).

testified that she was again living with the respondent in May of 1983 and that she first became aware of the incident that Monday (August 8, 1983) (R. 64). She learned of the incident through her son so she called the respondent at work and asked whether there was any truth to statements and the respondent could not answer (R. 65). She told the respondent that the children had told her things that were unbelieveable and shocking and told him what they had told her and asked whether there was any truth and that the respondent was silent. Whereupon she asked him couldn't he say anything and realized that it must be true (R. 64-65). Finally the respondent told her he did not know what she was talking about but she asked him to leave and she called the sheriff (R. 65). She testified they separated that Monday and that she called the sheriff that same day (R. 65-67). She stated that she worked Friday night at Good Spirits, that she went to work approximately 6:30 p.m., was usually there until 12:20 and home by 12:30 (R. 67). She testified that everyone was asleep when she got home Friday night but that when she left the respondent, aware that anyone was going to spend the night out (R. 67-68). She testified she later found out that some children spent the night out (R. 68).

On cross-examination testified that she never argued with the respondent's mother nor did she remember saying to her the only way she could get rid of Rick was to have him put in jail (R. 71). She further testified that she did not recall saying she would keep the respondent around until she got all she needed from him and would then get rid of him (R. 71). She never saw any sexual contact between the respondent and her daughter nor did she ever suspect any (R. 71). She stated that first told her about the incident and, while he was not there on that particular night, he had been there when it had occurred before (R. 71-72).

The respondent moved for a mistrial on the basis of statement that these events had occurred before. The court apparently suggested to defense counsel that he had invited the answer (R. 72). The rest of the bench conference is not recorded but apparently the trial court denied the motion for the mistrial (R. 73). Went on to testify that she talked with the sheriff's deputies on Monday the 8th and said they took a taped statement from her and that they talked with the sheriff on the 8th, the 10th and the 12th (R. 73). She stated that they had had problems

getting to talk, she did not recall Willingham describing sexual activities to (R. 74). She stated that she had not talked to be about the incident very often, she told that that had to talk to get the respondent help; she never mentioned jail and she did not because she did not want the children to look at that the rest of their lives (R. 74). She testified that could have been at home on August 5th when the incident occurred, that it could have occurred before he left to spend the night out but she did not know as she had never asked when he left to spend the night (R. 75). She tried not to talk with the children at all about the incident so as not to sway them, she wanted them to tell the truth in court (R. 75-76). She testified she had never told the victim what to say to anyone except to tell the truth: she stated the victim was reluctant to talk with authorities regarding this event and would not talk at all the first time she was questioned by the police, rather the victim pretended she couldn't hear (R. 76-77).

The petitioner then rested (R. 77).

Defense counsel renewed his motion for mistrial and the court reserved ruling as he felt there was a significant question of invited error; the court stated it would read the cases and preserve ruling until that time (R. 78). The respondent moved for a judgment of acquittal due to the insufficiency of the evidence (R. 79). Respondent asserted

that there was no testimony regarding when the incident actually occurred, that is, on August 5, 1983; respondent also asserted there was a total lack of evidence as to a lewd and lascivious act by the respondent on the victim (R. 79). The petitioner asserted that all the testimony and inquiry had been regarding August 5, and that the evidence was uncontradicted as to that date (R. 80). The trial court ruled that there was sufficient evidence for a prima facie case and that a jury question had been raised, thus the trial court denied respondent's motion for judgment of acquittal (R. 82).

Respondent put on the testimony of his mother who testified that she knew from when she and the respondent lived together (R. 87). She stated that she had not had any trouble with and that told her that when she had gotton all the money out of the respondent she could, she was going to kick him out and think of a way to send him to jail (R. 87). Mrs. Lowry testified that she and were not fighting at the time and that she did not think was kidding; she believed the comment was made in May while she and were talking about marriage (R. 88). Mrs. Lowry testified that only was present at the time and that she believed but that she did not tell the respondent because he would not believe her, although she did tell the respondent's brother (R. 89).

The respondent testified that he had known since March of 1982 and that he moved in with her about a week and a half after they first dated, in August of 1982 (R. 92-93). He testified that he did not know what had said to his mother until after he had been arrested (R. 93). He testified that had been in a car accident and was off and on work because her wrist was bothering her and did not go back to work until August 5, 1983 (R. 93-94). He testified that he kept the children when worked at night (R. 95). He testified that spent the night at the home and that spent the night at their house and that was eight years old (R. 96). The respondent stated that when called that evening he told her about he stated he never did what said he did to her (R. 96). He testified that he had doctored through the chickenpox and had put lotion on all three children and that they had their clothes off for this (R. 97). He stated that to his knowledge he had never done anything indecent to the children when they had their clothes off; he had given baths with man in the house, and had never had a problem with the kids complaining regarding the baths or the lotion (R. 97). He stated that he played with the kids on August 5th, that and and went to bed in seed and that came and laid down with Rick; no one went to sleep and the lights were off for five minutes

and then back on (R. 98-99). The respondent stated he was wearing cutoffs and no shirt; that and and and and were in their underwear which was not uncommon (R. 99). He testified that he first learned of the accusations on August 9 (Tuesday), while he was at work (R. 99). He stated that he argued with in the morning of August 9th over whether could go to work with him anymore (R. 100). He stated that was angry with him when she left him at work but that she did not mention the accusations: he had no indication of problems on Sunday or Monday night or Tuesday morning (R. 101). He testified that called Tuesday at noontime and that he told her he did not know anything about it; he did not recall the specific question but that was angry and yelling and sounded like she had been crying (R. 101-102). He stated that there was no pause between s questions and his answer that he did not know anything about it (R. 102). He testified that said she guessed it was over and then she changed her mind, saying perhaps they could work it out; the respondent refused; he was arrested on August 10 (R. 102). He stated that he went to the home on August 9, that he got the key from next door, and was not home (R. 103). He got his clothes and he left and did not see prior to the time he was arrested nor did he talk with her (R. 103). He testified that he had argued with about bullying his sister but that they got along

fairly well (R. 103-104). He did not believe had ever seen him have sex with (R. 104). Respondent testified he got along with fairly well (R. 104). He testified he had never laid in bed with without his clothes on, that she was never in the room with him when he was undressed and that he had no idea why people would say these things (R. 104-105). The respondent admitted having been twice convicted of a crime (R. 110). He stated that despite stestimony that these events occurred after school started that he was not around them then as he had been in jail since August 10 (R. 111).

The respondent rested (R. 113).

The respondent then renewed its motion for judgment of acquittal as no date had been proved and that had said the incident occurred after school started (R. 116). The trial court stated that there was a true conflict as to the evidence but that it was not so irreconcilable as to require a directed verdict; the trial court found the petitioner had proved a prima facie case and denied the motion for judgment of acquittal (R. 117). The trial court continued to reserve its ruling on the motion for mistrial until post trial in the event the respondent had an adverse verdict and until after the court had researched the issue (R. 117).

In closing argument defense counsel attempted to discredit states testimony, asserting that she had lied (R. 131-132). He argued that the state had failed to

Deputy Kaye Browning, and Dr. Brown (R. 132-138). Defense counsel also argued that the victim was not credible either and that her testimony was a product of things other people had put into her mind (R. 135).

On rebuttal the prosecutor argued that the defendant's assertions were not based on the evidence presented but rather on evidence not presented (R. 140). The prosecutor asserted that defense counsel had asserted that this absent evidence would have been harmful but that that was not true (R. 140). He stated that until the defendant testified in court he had no idea what the defendant was going to say but that the defendant knew exactly what each of the state witnesses were going to say before he testified (R. 141). Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial stating that the prosecutor's comment was an improper comment on the defendant's right to remain silent (R. 141). The court denied the motion for a mistrial (R. 141-142).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty against the respondent of committing a lewd and lascivious act (R. 203).

On January 5, 1984 defense counsel renewed its motion for mistrial regarding the comments that had seen the respondent commit these acts before and also statement that the respondent was in jail (R. 155-158). Defense counsel admitted that he had no cases in his

favor and asserted a curative instruction would have been improper as it only would draw attention to the comment (R. 157-158). The trial court denied this motion (R. 163-164).

As the respondent did not raise any issue as to sentencing, the petitioner will not summarize the sentencing proceedings herein.

The respondent timely appealed his conviction to the Fourth District Court of Appeal raising three issues: whether the respondent's motions for judgment of acquittal were properly denied; whether the respondent's motions for mistrial were properly denied, and whether the trial court properly denied the respondent's motion to determine the competency of the victim to testify, outside the presence of the jury and properly allowed the victim to testify.

The Fourth District held that one issue required reversal; the Court found that one comment by the prosecutor in his closing argument, while in response to defense counsel's closing arguments and directed at respondent's credibility, the remark was also susceptible of construction as a comment on respondent's right to remain silent, and thus "reversible without resort to the harmless error doctrine." Lowry v. State, 468 So.2d 298 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). From this holding the state appeals.

# POINTS ON APPEAL

# POINT I

WHETHER THE HARMLESS ERROR DOCTRINE SHOULD BE APPLIED TO CASES IN WHICH A PROSECUTOR HAS VIOLATED A DEFENDANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER GRIFFIN V. CALIFORNIA, 380 U.S. 609 (1965)?

# POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL SINCE THE PROSECUTOR'S REMARKS AMOUNTED TO NOTHING MORE THAN A COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE AS IT EXISTED BEFORE THE JURY?

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

# POINT I

The state respectfully submits that the harmless error doctrine is and should be applicable to situations such as that alleged <u>sub judice</u>, involving claims of improper comment on an accused's exercise of his right to remain silent. Accordingly, this Court should reject application of a <u>per se</u> error rule and should reverse the Fourth District's application of a per se reversible rule.

# POINT II

The prosecutor's comment during closing argument was not an improper comment on the respondent's assertion of his right to remain silent. Rather, the comment was in response to those of defense counsel and a comment on the evidence as it existed before the jury, thus was entirely proper.

# ARGUMENT

# POINT I

THE HARMLESS ERROR DOCTRINE SHOULD BE APPLIED TO CASES IN WHICH A PROSECUTOR HAS VIOLATED A DEFENDANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER GRIFFIN V. CALIFORNIA, 380 U.S. 609 (1965).

In Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609 (1965), the United States Supreme Court held that any comment on a defendant's failure to testify violates his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. Soon after Griffin, however, the Supreme Court in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) declined to apply a per se rule requiring reversal in all cases where Griffin errors were alleged to have occurred and instead held that a conviction could be affirmed if the reviewing court concluded that, on the whole record, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The harmless error principles announced by the Court in Chapman, supra, were reaffirmed by the United States Supreme Court in United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 103 S.Ct. 1974, 76 L.Ed.2d 96 (1983), the Supreme Court made it clear that notwithstanding the protections afforded by the Fifth Amendment of the federal constitution a prosecutor's comment upon the failure of the defendant to testify (i.e., upon the exercise of his right to remain silent) is not per se reversible error such that a reviewing court must, before reversing upon this basis, review the appellate record to

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