CASE NO: 67,308

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner

v.

RICHARD LEON LOWRY,

Respondent

FES 2 1986

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LESTER W. JENNINGS Attorney for Respondent Post Office Box 237 Okeechobee, F1 33472 (813) 467-2570

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

The improper comment by the Prosecutor going to Respondent's right to remain silent is reversible error after applying the harmless error rule. The record discloses evidence of guilt against Respondent was extremely weak and a definite reasonable doubt exists as to whether the comment was harmless. The District Court's reversal of the Trial Court should be sustained.

POINT II

The Prosecutor's comment that the jury keep in mind that he did not know what the Respondent would testify to until he testified at the trial was an improper comment or was fairly susceptible as a comment upon the Respondent's refusal to testify in pre-trial proceedings. The District Court's reversal of the Trial Court should be sustained.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE IMPROPER COMMENT BY THE PROSECUTOR GOING THE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO TO REMAIN SILENT CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE EVEN THE HARMLESS ERROR IFERROR DOCTRINE TS APPLIED TO THE BECAUSE OF AN INSUFFICIENCY PETITIONER'S GUILT AND EVIDENCE OF THERE IS A REASONABLE DOUBT BECAUSE THAT THE COMMENT WAS HARMLESS.

In State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150 (Fla 1985), this Court adopted the harmless error rule in connection with improper comments by the prosecutor on the defendant's failure to testify. The opinion in the Marshall case stated:

"Any comment on or which is fairly susceptible of being interpreted as referring to a defendant's failure to testify is error and is strongly discouraged."

This opinion further stated that such an error should be evaluated according to the harmless error rule with the State having the burden of showing the comment to have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Marshall case was remanded to the District Court for reconsideration in light of the rule prenounced. The opinion did not disclose if this Court had been furnished with a record or brief showing how strong the evidence was against the defendant. The instant case is distinguished from the Marshall case and State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla 1984) in which this Court adopted the harmless error rule in a prosecutor's comment on the state of the mind of the defendant. The Marshall case does not disclose the evidence

against the defendant and in the Murray case the evidence was overwhelming. In the instant case the evidence was extremely So weak in fact that had the District Court not reversed the trial court on the improper counsel would have felt obligated to appeal on the District Court's failure to reverse the trial court's denial of Respondent's Motions for Acquittal. The evidence against the Respondent was the testimony of a six year old child who was never shown to be qualified as a competent witness. never identified the Respondent in the court room. did not remember whether the Respondent ever lived with Mother and her. She did not remember talking with her Mother about the alleged offense. She did not know when the alleged offense happened. After repeated coaching by both the Judge and attorneys to answer questions she answered only a few questions without being instructed to answer yes or no. In order to argue that the evidence in the record would sustain a conviction one would have to argue that when a question was asked the witness, with no response and then when a second question was asked "can you answer yes or no" or "can you answer out loud" with a "yes" answer that the "yes" answer was a reply to the first question rather than the last one. Petitioner's brief states that the evidence was overwhelming against the Respondent. This is absolutely wrong. After many leading questions the prosecutor finally got the witness

to say that the Respondent got on top of her and then assuming that several yeses by her refer not to "can you answer yes or no" but to a preceeding question that he put his thing in her (R-41-44). After this series of questions the prosecutor asked and the witness answered:

Q. Okay. Now, what you just told us, told these people here, what Rick did to you, is that the truth?

Can you answer, honey, yes or no.

A. I don't know.

evidence of being seduced several days after the alleged crime, the doctor was not called to testify and there was no evidence presented at the trial of any physical sign of penetration. The girl was six and the Respondent was a grown man and all reason would indicate that if the Respondent seduced or "put his thing in her" that there would have to have been some physical signs.

The only other witness for the Petitioner-State,

Mother, testified she was at work at
the time of the offense and learned of the incident from her
eight year old son (R-65) three days after the
incident. This testimony is revealing in that originally and
until at least October 27th, 1983, the Petitioner-State
thought that the brother, witnessed the alleged
molestation of The information dated September

1st, 1983, contained a second count accusing the Respondent of committing a lewd and lascivious act in the presence of on the same date, August 5th, 1983, when was supposedly molested. The attorneys were still arguing both Counts in a hearing on October 27th, 1983. (R-3).

Mrs. testified at the trial that was not home at the time of the offense, but was spending the night with a friend. (R-69). was not called as a witness by the State and the State nolle prossed Count II apparently after discovering that was not home the night of August 5th, 1983. Mrs. testified after talking to on August 8th, 1983, that she called the Respondent at work and confronted him with the accusation. She did not testify that on that date she talked to and and when asked on cross examination how many times she talked with about the incident she answered, "not very often". (R-74). After talking to on August 8th, 1983, she immediately called the Respondent and confronted him with the accusation (R-65). Apparently, Mrs. \blacksquare and the investigating officers were confused as to whether was present. The unrebutted testimony of Respondent was that on the morning of August 9th, 1983, that he and Mrs. had a bad quarrel and after the quarrel she called him at work and advised him of the accusations regarding He denied the charges and she suggested they get back together and he said no, he had had enough. Mrs. did not deny telling the Respondent's Mother previous to the incident that when she was tired of the Respondent she would throw him out and think of a way to have him put in jail. (R-71). She testified she did not remember making the statement. She did not testify she did not make the statement while Respondent's Mother, Lulabelle Lowry testified she did make the statement to her. (R-80-88).

Anybody would have to consider from the above, the possibility that Mrs. became bitter toward the Respondent and induced to tell the officers that he saw the Respondent seduce commencing this matter.

The following took place on cross examination of Mrs.

- Q. Was it you who told that if didn't talk then Rick would not go to jail?
- A. I said has to talk in order for this to get Ricky help. I never did say jail. I tell my children that they need to talk to get Ricky help, not to put him in jail. I don't want them to look at that for the rest of their lives, no, I didn't say that.
- Q. Well, do you have any idea where got the idea that the whole purpose of this was to put Ricky in jail?

 A. No.

MR. YOUNG: Your Honor, I would object to that. I don't think there has been any testimony that that was the child, Michael's statement.

THE COURT: The objection is sustained.

- Q. Were you present when Michael made such a statement?
- A. I don't remember.
- Q. How old is Michael?
- A. Nine. (R-75-75).

Both Michelle and the Respondent testified that when Michelle had chickenpox that the Respondent rubbed lotion all over Michelle's body. (R-58,naked R - 97). The competent evidence to the charges against Respondent in Michelle's testimony is her testimony that when Respondent got on her he rubbed it. (R-43-44). The child may have been referring to the chickenpox rubbing and the questions by both attorneys to Michelle referred to the incident as "it", "this" and "that". (R-44, 46, 59). What "it", "this" and "that" meant to Michelle is questionable. A lot of incidents came out at the trial, the chickenpox occassion, spankings of Michelle, birthdays and there is no proof as to what Michelle thought the lawyers were referring to.

The cases decided by the United States Supreme Court and the Court in establishing the harmless error rule in connection with prosecution misconduct at the trial held that whether such misconduct constitutes reversible error is

determined by the degree of proof introduced at the trial to the charges and whether there is a reasonable doubt that the prosecutional misconduct did not influence the jury and that the burden is upon the State to prove beyond reasonable doubt that it had no influence on the jury. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 103 S.ct. 1974, 76 L.Ed 2d 96 (1983), State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla 1984), and State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150 (Fla 1985).

The Marshall case cited above held that when evidence is strong and when we know beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant will be convicted again, it makes no sense to order a new trial. In the instant case it is highly questionable that the State could get past a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal with the evidence presented in this case. At any rate, the evidence is extremely weak and conflicting. State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956, this Court held the error harmless because the evidence against the Defendant was overwhelming. Quite different from the instant cse. United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499 103 S.CT 1974, 76 L. Ed 2d 96 (1983), involved evidence of guilt expressed by the Court as establishing a compelling case of guilt, page 1976 of 103 S. Ct. And who can say that the Assistant State's Attorney's comment in closing argument that neither he nor the State's witnesses knew what the Respondent -Defendant was going to

exactly what they were going to say - did not cause some members of the jury to think something to the effect that if this man is not guilty of this crime why didn't he go talk to the police or the prosecuting attorney or to Mrs. and tell her he did not do it. After making the comment the prosecutor emphasized by saying "keep that in mind". In other words, he impressed upon the jury of the need to remember that the Respondent would not make a statement concerning the crime previous to the trial. (R-141-142). The comment was obviously a comment on Respondent's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent at all stages of a criminal investigation and proceeding.

Add this prejudicial remark to the unresponsive remarks by Petitoner's witness, that the Respondent had been in jail on a previous matter and that while did not see Respondent molest on August 5th, 1983, he saw Respondent do it on previous occassions and you can easily see how the jury could have been extremely prejudiced against Respondent and could have entered its verdict of guilty on prejudice rather than on any competent evidence and in considering the proof of guilt consideration should be given to the probability that a six year old child used to spankings would testify to the way her Mother or her older brother told her to. Mrs. admitted telling that that the had to testify against Ricky. (R-74-75).

In summary on this Point, even if the harmless error doctrine is applicable to this case the prosecutorial remark that Respondent refused to talk about the charges against him until the trial is reversible error because the evidence against Respondent was extremely weak and because a definite reasonable doubt exists as to whether the comment was harmless.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN DENYING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL BECAUSE THE REMARKS AT LEAST ARE FAIRLY SUSCEPTIBLE OF CONSTRUCTION AS A COMMENT UPON RESONDENT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT

This Court has held for many years that any comment that directly or indirectly can be construed as a comment upon a Defendant's right to remain silent is error.

In Trafficante v. State, 92 So.2d 811 (Fla 1957), the prosecutor's remark that testimony here is uncontrodicted where defendant did not testify were held by this court to be reversible error because even though they might be construed as a comment on something else they easily could have been considered by a jury as at least an indirect comment on the fact the Defendant did not take the witness stand.

On page 814 of the opinion, this Court pronounced the following rule:

"In summary, our law prohibits any comment to be made, directly or indireclty, the failure of the defendant to testify. without This is true regard to character of the comment, or the motive or intent with which it is made, if such comment is subject to an interpretation which would bring it within the statutory prohibition and regardless susceptibility to a different construction. The comment of the State Attorney herein might merely have been lapsus linguae in the heat of argument, but it constituted a violation of F.S. Section 918.09."

The Supreme Court reiterated the above quoted rule in David v. State, 369 So.2d 943. In this case the prosecutor

made a comment that there was no evidence of a business failure. This Court in reversing the District Court and trial court held that the comment was reversible error and on page 944 of the opinion stated:

"Any comment which is "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted by the jury as referring to a criminal defendant's failure to testify constitutes reversible error, without resort to the harmless error doctrine."

State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150 was the first Florida decision by this Court holding that the harmless doctrine should bе applied to improper comments on Defendant's failure to testify. In this case the prosecutor stated that the only person you heard from in this courtroom with regard to the events on November 9th, 1981, was Brenda Scavone. The opinion remanded the case back to the District for application of the harmless error doctrine to the facts because apparently, the Supreme Court did not have a complete record. This Court did not reverse on the grounds that the comment was not error and held that any comment on or which fairly susceptible of being interpretated as referring to defendant's failure to testify is error.

Rule 3.250 Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that no accused can be compelled to give testimony against himself and that prosecuting attorneys are forbidden to comment on a defendant's failure to testify.

In the instant case, the comment was a reference to the failure of the Respondent to give a statement to the law enforcement officers and prosecuting attorney and witnesses for the Petitioner-State before the trial.

The United States Supreme Court in Mirando v. Arizona 384 U.S. 436, 16 L.Ed 2nd 319, 98 S. Ct. 1091 (1966) held that the prosecution may not use at a trial the fact that an individual stood mute, or claimed his privilege against self incirmination in face of an accusation and during pre-trial proceedings.

Petitioner. in its brief, cites authority that a mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the court and should only be done in cases of absolute necessity and cites Furguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla 1982), Jackson v. State 419 So. 2d 394 (Fla 4th DCA 1982) and salvadore v. State 366 So. 2d 745 (Fla 1978). Neither of the three cited cases involves a prosecutorial comment on the Defendant's right to remain silent. This Court has always held it is error to comment on the accused's silence and that a Motion for Mistrial should be granted by the trial court because of such a comment. I can find no authority that the trial court has discretion to deny a mistrial on a motion based on a prosecutor's comment on the defendant's remaining silent. Now, since this Court in State v. Marshall, supra, has established a rule that requires the application of the

harmless error doctrine to such comments, the trial court would have to apply this rule and determine the evidence in the case and the reasonable doubt principle in making its decision. As previously shown, there was an obvious improper comment and the evidence of guilt was weak and there was a reasonable doubt that the comment was harmless so the trial court committed reversible error in failing to grant the Respondent's Motion for Mistrial.

The Petitioner, in its brief, argues that if the

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